
ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

1 

Albemarle County Planning Commission 
July 12, 2016 

 
The Albemarle County Planning Commission held a regular meeting on Tuesday, July 
12, 2016, at 6:00 p.m., at the County Office Building, Lane Auditorium, Second Floor, 401 
McIntire Road, Charlottesville, Virginia.  
 
Members attending were Daphne Spain, Mac Lafferty, Karen Firehock, Vice Chair; Pam 
Riley and Tim Keller, Chair.  Absent was Jennie More, Bruce Dotson and Bill Palmer, 
UVA Representative.   
 
Other officials present were J.T. Newberry, Planner; Elaine Echols, Acting Chief of 
Planning; David Benish, Acting Director of Planning; Sharon Taylor, Clerk to Planning 
Commission and Greg Kamptner, Deputy County Attorney.   
 

Call to Order and Establish Quorum: 
 
Mr. Keller, Chair, called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and established a quorum.   
 
ZMA-2014-00006 Avon Park II  
MAGISTERIAL DISTRICT:  Scottsville 
TAX MAP/PARCEL: 09000-00-00-03100 
LOCATION: 1960 and 1968 Avon Street Extended. Approximately 1,000 feet north of the 
intersection of Avon Street Extended and Route 20, south of existing Avon Court.     
PROPOSAL: To amend the proffers and application plan for approved ZMA201200004. 
32 maximum residential units remain unchanged for a density of 6 units/acre.  
PETITION: Request to amend proffers, and the application plan on 5.262 acres on 
property zoned PRD (Planned Residential Development) which allows residential uses 
with limited commercial uses at a density of 3 - 34 units/acre. No new dwellings proposed. 
ENTRANCE CORRIDOR: Yes  
PROFFERS: Yes 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: Neighborhood Density Residential-residential (3-6 
units/acre); supporting uses such as religious institutions, schools, and other small-scale 
non-residential uses. 
(Rachel Falkenstein)  
 
Ms. Echols, in the absence of Rachel Falkenstein, summarized the staff report for ZMA-
2014-00006 Avon Park II in a PowerPoint presentation. She made the following points: 
 

 This is the third significant rezoning on the property from the residential development 
standpoint.  Ms. Echols said Avon Park II was approved previously a couple of times; 
and she was going to show them a couple of those plans.  The property is located on 
Route 20 and Avon Street right before Avon connects with Route 20, Scottsville Road.  
Ms. Echols noted showed a slide with an image of the property located at 1960 and 
1968 Avon Street Extended. Ms. Echols said the property is south of Avon Park I; the 
current zoning is Planned Residential Development (PRD); and it is in the Entrance 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

2 

 

Corridor (EC).   
 

Ms. Echols said that ZMA-2007-05 initially rezoned the property from R-1 to R-6 with 
a proffered plan. In the graphic of the proffered plan, Ms. Echols showed the 
progression of the plan. Ms. Echols said when this was zoned for 31 units there were 
some changes needed.  Those changes occurred in 2012 with the rezoning from R-6 
to PRD for a little change in the unit types. The area currently under review was mainly 
this not shown for any kind of development and then it became a storm water detention 
area with some landscaping. 
 
In 2014, the applicant prepared a site plan for review and approval; however, our fire 
rescue division said it needed to have an emergency access point so the applicant 
changed the application plan for the PRD and provided an emergency access area at 
the rear of the lot.  The main access to this development is from Avon Park I on 
Hathaway Street.  Ms. Echols pointed to the prior approved plan showing two 
hammerheads at the end of the streets, the town house location, and a location for 
on-street parking. Ms. Echols said when the site plan could not be approved the 
applicant had to request a rezoning. With this rezoning, the applicants are creating a 
cul-de-sac street.  She pointed out the beginning and end of the public street noting 
the location of the private street down the road in this direction. She said the proposed 
plan shows a rearrangement of where the townhouses are located, which is now at 
the end of the street next to an area of additional parking. 
 
Ms. Echols pointed out the landscape plan in this area on the application plan had  
significantly more screening provided on both borders and especially the area near 
Avon Street.  Ms. Echols said that it is important to note that our comprehensive plan 
does not recommend screening between similar uses, especially not residential uses 
of the same type.  However, the residents next door were requesting this landscaping 
and the applicant decided to offer it.  Ms. Echols pointed out that is the reason why 
we are seeing such an extensive landscaping plan with the rezoning plan. Normally 
we would not see something quite that extensive.  Therefore, the changes to the 
application plan mostly consist of reconfiguration of some of the lots, moving the 
townhouse units closer to Avon Street, and adding a parking area in this location.   
 
Ms. Echols noted there are proffer changes that have also occurred with this rezoning 
request. The applicant originally proposed 15% affordable units (6 of 32); and they are 
still doing that; but, they are also adding in the cash in lieu option at the discretion of 
the Housing Director.  There is still a provision for overlot grading and additional 
erosion and sediment control measures and silt fencing.  Ms. Echols said the original 
cash proffers made were at the higher figures as shown on the slide and now the 
applicant is requesting a reduction to much lower figures as shown (on the 
presentation slide) and in the proffers provided with your plan.   
 
Ms. Echols said proffers would include landscaping easements to the adjacent 
properties; recreational amenities used in cooperation with Avon Park I; and a 
temporary fence to screen the site during construction. 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

3 

 

 
Ms. Spain questioned if the single-family detached and single-family attached are 
reversed in the third bullet under the first category. 
 
Ms. Echols agreed the detached and attached single-family are reversed; the single-
family detached is higher, and thanked Ms. Spain for pointing that out. 
 
Ms. Echols pointed out the cash proffer change is the one that has elicited a lot of 
conversation today and questions that some of the members of the Planning Commission 
have asked both staff and the county attorney.  The county attorney sent out an email 
earlier today talking about the effects of the cash proffer policy changes.  Ms. Echols 
noted that Mr. Kamptner has advised that the Commission should consider the evidence 
to support the request; and, not merely the argument that the applicant should be able to 
make this particular change in the reduction without providing some background 
information or some support for it.  In addition, Mr. Kamptner has noted that the prior 
proffer statement included a statement by the applicant affirming that the proffers were 
voluntarily made, reasonable, have not been challenged in court; and staff has correctly 
applied the new Code provisions that are effective on the first of July.    
 
Ms. Echols explained that the Commission has some options here in how to deal with the 
cash proffer itself. She said the other proffers are pretty much what staff recommends 
with little minor technical changes as well as the changes to the application plan.  Ms. 
Echols said if the Commission was inclined to recommend a reduction in the cash proffer, 
the per unit cash contribution, then you should either recommend the amount that is in 
the proposed proffers or if you want a different figure ask the applicant to defer to allow 
time for further study.  The applicant has the option to go ahead and ask the Commission 
to take action tonight and not defer; but that really is up to the applicant.  However, if the 
Commission does not believe the reduction is appropriate and the original offer made 
should stand, then you should not recommend approval of this particular proffer. Ms. 
Echols noted the Commission can recommend approval of the development subject to a 
change in the proffer amount; recommend disapproval citing the reason you want to do 
that; or, you can make a blend as shown in the presentation slide.   
 
Ms. Echols pointed out the numbers staff provided in the staff report were the only 
numbers we had and using the new FIAC numbers we did not do any new analysis; but, 
they were using what our capital costs were at the time.  She pointed out that Mr. Greg 
Kamptner is the author of the email the Commission received if there are any specific 
questions about that.   
 
Ms. Echols provided the Factors Favorable as: 
1. The revised application plan provides for a second point of ingress and egress that 

satisfies the Fire Division.   
2. The request remains consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the Neighborhood 

Model Principles.  
3. The use is consistent with the uses permitted under the existing PRD zoning district. 
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

4 

 

Factor Unfavorable: 
1. A minor technical revision is needed to the proffers/application plan. 
 
Ms. Echols noted staff recommends approval of ZMA-2014-06 Avon Park II with proffers 
provided the technical revisions be made to the proffers with the slight change to the 
application plan as described in the staff report prior to the Board of Supervisors meeting.  
If the Commission wants to recommend approval, a suggested motion is shown on the 
screen. If the Commission wants to recommend denial, there is a suggested motion and 
the Commission needs to state the reasons for denial.  In addition, the Commission also 
has the option to mix and match. 
 
Mr. Keller thanked staff and invited questions for staff. 
 
Mr. Lafferty asked, “If the Commission disagrees with part of the proposal, do we disagree 
with the whole thing?” 
 
Ms. Echols replied no, and asked Mr. Kamptner to comment. 
 
Mr. Keller pointed out staff said mix and match. 
 
Mr. Kamptner replied that the Commission is not required to recommend approval of the 
changes to the application plan or the proffers; or, not required to accept and recommend 
approval of all of the proffer amendments. 
 
Mr. Lafferty said that is somewhat spelled out in the motion; however, that is fine. 
 
Ms. Riley asked for more explanation on why there is both a public road and a private 
road in the development.  She said she assumes the Homeowner’s Association (HOA) is 
going to become responsible for the private road in terms of maintenance, snow plowing 
and that kind of thing. Ms. Riley asked Ms. Echols to describe that. 
 
Ms. Echols said the reason for the difference in the two roads is that we have attached 
units and a parking area down at the hammerhead that cannot meet public road 
standards.  She pointed out the hammerhead is not allowed by VDOT  She said there are 
also some grinder pump lines for a couple of these lots and VDOT will not allow any of 
those lines in their right-of-way.  Ms. Echols said that what is proposed is very similar to 
what was previously approved. After the rezoning, Fire/Rescue said we need to have a 
second point of ingress and egress and  on-street parking would not be allowed, which 
caused them to need to put a  parking lot in this location.  She said that alternatively they 
could have reduced the density.  However, the applicant chose to do redesign the project 
in this way and staff thinks it is an appropriate way to deal with the situation, given the 
fact that the Fire/Rescue regulations were new.   
 
Mr. Keller opened the public hearing and invited the applicant to speak. 
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

5 

 

Mr. Bo Dickerson, with Dickerson Homes and Development, said they are the hopeful 
developer of this property. The process has been going on for a very long time for this 
project that needs to happen in the County.  Mr. Dickerson said they have collaborated 
with Habitat to get affordable homes through the urban ring in the county.  He pointed out 
every time he puts together a proposal of a development project it is always to put in the 
best product as affordably as possible.  He said that, at this point, they are four years into 
this project; but the need for the access road came to us at the last minute. . Fire and 
Rescue’s requirement for a secondary access blew everything out of the water, adding 
another year and a half to the process. He said they have been working on the project so 
that they could get Habitat lots so that we could provide homes.  What we have done here 
is good development; but not great development because, for the lack of a better phrase, 
VDOT is the tail that wags the dog.  Mr. Dickerson said he would love to tell the 
Commission that this is a perfect plan; but there is no such thing. However, it is a good 
plan.  He said the homes can get to the market at a fairly affordable price especially with 
Habitat coming in for the townhomes; but, it has been a long time coming, since the 
project has been approved actually three times.   
 
Mr. Dickerson said if he had known that they would need a whole rezoning to put the 
townhomes in a better location, where the neighborhood wanted them to go, he would 
have told the neighborhood they were sorry. They would have to go with this plan and 
then Fire/Rescue and everybody would have been out the door.  He said that would not 
have been good for anybody and would have been a mess for everybody.  Mr. Dickerson 
said they have worked very hard with the neighborhood by meeting with the HOA and 
putting together a plan they all have accepted and agreed to.  Mr. Dickerson said that 
since they have bent over backwards for staff, he would really encourage the Planning 
Commission to take that next step and approve this plan.  
 
Ms. Firehock, Vice Chair, invited public comment noting the first person signed up to 
speak is Gary Brooks followed by Kelly Myles. 
 
Gary Brooks said he lives to the south side of the proposed project and his brother, son, 
and he own the properties and have three concerns.  The first concern is the road frontage 
down at the bottom (of the hill) where we are going to pull out of our driveway. The 
additional green planting puts us in sort of a ravine. Leaving the property, in looking left 
up the road to check for traffic coming, we are looking over the top of an embankment 
and so when that grass gets a foot high, our vision will be blocked. He said they do not 
want to see anything go in where we cannot get out of our driveway or see oncoming 
traffic. In addition, there has been a school bus stop down there for some years. He 
pointed out this year it will not be there because everybody has grown up; however, in 
two more years he had a granddaughter who will be getting on the bus down there again.  
Mr. Brooks said he and his family are very concerned that they will not be able to get in 
and out of that driveway without having their vision blocked. He asked that his family’s  
concerns to be taken under heavy consideration when the applicant  starts putting shrubs 
in and how far it gets down to the road. 
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

6 

 

Mr. Gary Brooks said they appreciate the screening along the farm fence; however, that 
farm fence had is a wire fence intended to keep dogs and animals off their property. 
Instead, people are letting their dogs run over to the Brooks’ property and use their woods.  
Mr. Brooks said that, even with what little woods we have, it creates a park and a concern. 
People let their dogs exercise or run across that property. Mr. Brooks said that his family 
are retired and want to live the rest of their lives out there as normal as possible.   
 
The third part is there was a water line that was supposed to have been right at the back 
of lot 210, and then stubbed off there.  Mr. Brooks questioned the effects of removal of all 
of the greens and the trees and how it would affect how much water that ground absorbs 
since his family all have wells.  Mr. Brooks said his well produces 3 gallons per minute 
and if the well loses its ability to be replenished, and then his family loses water.  He said 
he did not know if that would actually happen when the developer takes all of these trees 
down and puts in asphalt. He said he and his family do not have anything saying the 
development will not affect their wells.  Therefore, if we lose any more of that water in 
those wells or the groundwater our wells will suffer and our ability to have water becomes 
very rare for us and it would make it very difficult.  We do not want to have to battle 
somebody over the point of extending a water line or getting property rights to get water 
to our property. 
 
Kelly Myles thanked Chairman Keller and the members of the Commission as well as the 
County because she was kind of late in the game. She just bought a townhome that abuts 
the proposed development site and she was not aware of the development.  Ms. Myles 
applauded all the efforts made to consider the current residents in terms of the new 
development and the HOA as well in working with everyone. She thanked the applicant 
for the setbacks, evergreen screening proposed and all those measures they were taking. 
She also thanked the county for being very transparent when she asked for information.  
She said she wanted to talk about the ripple effect of the development as Mr. Brooks had.  
She said her townhome backs right up to the proposed development as do a few other 
townhomes and single detached homes.  On this side of the border are some very mature 
trees. She used to own property in Vermont, had a crash course on logging and clear 
cutting, and learned about the disruption to roots of tree systems.  Ms. Myles suggested 
the County consider measures if they clear-cut the large trees behind her townhouse such 
as an arborist doing an assessment of the jeopardy to the tall trees when just a few 
random very tall trees 50’, 75’ trees are left with nothing around them.  Thank you. 
 
Don Franco, on behalf of Habitat for Humanity, said having worked for Habitat he wants 
to let them know that yes,  they have an agreement and a letter of intent to work with 
Dickerson Homes to partner to build the affordable units in this project.  He said it is great 
since most of the work Habitat has been doing has been in the city. Mr. Franco said that 
Habitat has a large county project coming on board so Avon Park II is going to help 
provide some of the lots that Habitat needs into part of next year. Therefore, it is important 
that this move forward from Habitat’s perspective.  In addition, he thinks it is a great 
opportunity because it gets Habitat out into the different developments and keeps the 
affordable units from being consolidated within the city.  He said that when they find a 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

7 

 

developer that is willing to work with Habitat by discounting the lots dramatically to 
something Habitat can afford; then, we think it is a great project.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Firehock invited further public comment. She said if not, the developer has an 
opportunity to come back and make additional comments.   
 
There being none, Mr. Keller closed the public hearing to bring the matter before the 
Commission for discussion. 
 
Mr. Lafferty asked Mr. Dickerson if he had any figures substantiating why he wanted to 
reduce the proffer amount.   
 
Mr. Dickerson replied that it was for a number of reasons.  He said that when he started 
looking at this project back in 2009, he saw the first Avon development, and development 
does not pay for itself.  It takes 20 years for it to pay for itself. When Avon Park was first 
developed, they paid an exuberant amount in proffers.  The most expensive part of 
development is when the first home, fire hydrant and water goes in.  After that, it gets 
cheaper for every home.  He said that with Avon Park II being only 32 total units, they are 
not adding to capacity or to road damage.  Actually, the people who are going to the 
library will be going downtown.  He said this is because there is no library on this side of 
town,   He asked what is a valuable number, when it comes to cash proffers.  He said that 
in doing more research, he saw Bill Fritz came out with the number and it seemed 
reasonable for $100,000 in cash proffers to be provided instead of paying $500,000 in 
cash proffers. He suggested paying $100,000 in cash proffers, discounting $75,000 lots 
(that could be sold on the open market) and bringing them down to $40,000 would allow 
the developer to sell to Habitat so they could have homes and get people in.  He said 
their goal was to get people in the development that could not afford a home or lot 
otherwise and give them an opportunity for wealth generation. Mr. Dickerson noted that 
they are doing the same thing at Belmont Cottages with Habitat, which was a long answer 
to that question. 
 
Ms. Firehock asked Mr. Dickerson if the affordable housing was with Habitat in the first 
application or if this is a new addition. 
 
Mr. Dickerson replied that Weatherhill Homes, who is no longer in business, made the 
first application. With the first application, Vito Cetta took it, did another application and 
sold the property.  Mr. Dickerson said he bought the property, which made him the third 
person.   
 
Mr. Lafferty asked if in the original one was not there a proffer of 15%. 
 
Mr. Dickerson replied yes, there were affordable housing proffers for market rate 
townhomes with apartments.  He does not believe that anyone thinks that the apartments 
in the townhomes is affordable housing.  He pointed out that townhomes with apartments 
puts a roof over somebody’s heads, but that is not affordable housing.   
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

8 

 

Ms. Spain asked Mr. Dickerson to clarify that his company was not the one who made the 
original proffer, and Mr. Dickerson replied that is correct. 
 
Mr. Lafferty said he believes one of the options is to reassess the proffer which may in 
fact make it go up or down which would require more time on the applicant’s part.  He did 
not know whether the applicant would be amendable to that or not. 
 
Mr. Dickerson replied without being at all rude, he has no more time in any way, shape, 
or form since, this project has been ongoing for four years and cost $200,000, and he has 
borrowed every penny of that $200,000 at this point.   He replied no that he could not 
wait. 
 
Ms. Firehock noted she had a question for the County Attorney related to proffers. She 
said she wanted to know if the proposed proffers would have to be evaluated under the 
new proffer regulations where the impacts would have to be directly attributed. If so, it 
sets a much higher bar. 
 
Mr. Kamptner replied no, the new proffer legislation would not apply to this application. 
 
Ms. Firehock asked if that was the case because the project had previously been 
approved and Mr. Kamptner replied that was right. 
 
Ms. Riley said this request is pretty much the same as all the other cash proffer reduction 
requests the Commission has been reviewing since the cash proffer was offered at the 
time. She said the cash proffer is needed and it was reasonable and voluntarily offered.  
As the representative of the district, Ms. Riley said clearly there are impacts from traffic 
and children going to the schools that need to be paid for and these proffers are needed; 
therefore, she cannot support a reduction in cash proffer.     
 
Mr. Lafferty concurred. 
 
Mr. Keller asked if Mr. Lafferty wanted to separate the proffer discussion from the physical 
component of the project, and Mr. Lafferty replied yes. 
 
Mr. Keller asked if everyone concurred and if so, should the Commission take a vote on 
this particular portion and then move to the physical form? 
 
Mr. Lafferty said he thinks that would make it clearer. 
 
Ms. Spain  asked Mr. Dickerson if he would be able to take the issues into consideration 
that Ms. Myles raised about having an arborist or taking care of the trees that are 
immediately next to the development.  
 
Mr. Dickerson replied that he was going to give her a long version of this as quickly as 
possible since he wants to save as many trees as possible. He explained it is very 
expensive to take out trees; but this site is so tight there will not be any of those big trees 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

9 

 

left. It is just not possible to save them.  He pointed out since there are a number of utilities 
behind many of the lots, there will not be any need for an arborist. 
 
Ms. Spain asked if there would be any trees left, and Mr. Dickerson said no and noted 
that is why we are planting many trees. 
 
Mr. Lafferty said he thinks Ms. Spain was concerned about the edge effect created from 
taking out trees and replacing them with new trees.  He suggested clearing up the proffers 
first and then getting into the other part. 
 
Mr. Keller asked if Mr. Lafferty could put that in the form of a motion. 
 
Mr. Kamptner asked first that the Commission reach a consensus on the issue with 
respect to the proffers because the motion will be the final action that sends a series of 
recommendations to the Board.   
 
Mr. Keller said that he knows how Mr. Lafferty and Ms. Riley view this, and asked his 
other colleagues for their opinions. 
 
Ms. Firehock said that she did not know.  At this moment she was on the fence because 
she was very encouraged by the provision of affordable housing; she was very 
sympathetic to the fact that he is not the original developer; however, she also did not buy 
the argument that the impacts would be minimal and that $100,000 would necessarily be 
adequate.  Therefore, she was not sure she could tell you exactly how she is going to 
vote in the next 30 seconds. 
 
Ms. Spain noted that she shared the same opinions. 
 
Mr. Keller agreed and asked the Commission to move to the discussion of the other 
portion and then they can come back.  Since the Commission has heard from two sets of 
adjoining property owners, he wondered if staff could respond to the water issues, the 
connection issue, and the tree issue. 
 
Ms. Echols said that water lines will be extended in the direction of these particular 
adjoining property owners; one of the water lines will actually get to the adjoining property 
line; but the water line stops in the parking lot for the property owner closer to Avon Street 
it stops.  We believe that the Service Authority will require that easements be provided 
that extend to the property line. If the adjoining owner should they ever want to hook, he 
can use the easement and extend the line to his property it works engineering wise. 
Therefore, staff thinks that extension of water will be taken care of.  
 
Ms. Echols said that it is not clear to her that there is a commitment being made to a 
three-board fence  with  mesh to keep animals off the adjoining property; but, maybe the 
applicant can speak to that and suggest whether or not that is what they are planning on 
doing.   
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

10 

 

Regarding sight distance for the neighbor’s driveway, Ms. Echols said that VDOT would 
make sure that there is adequate sight distance. If there is a desire to ensure that this 
issue is worked out before the zoning is approved, the Commission can make a comment 
to that effect and staff can work with the applicant between now and the Board of 
Supervisors meeting to work it out.  
 
With regards to the trees next to Avon Park I, Ms. Echols said that staff could require a 
conservation plan to accurately show the extent of clearing work that might affect the 
adjoining properties.  Ms. Echols said she would have to look into this situation further 
because she is not aware of this issue.  With regard to saving any trees on the site, she 
understands from the professionals that if there is compact development proposed it is 
best to remove existing trees and replant so that the trees are stronger.  However, as far 
as the impacts on the adjoining property Ms. Echols said staff would have to look into that 
a little further.   
 
Mr. Keller asked to for a follow-up on the water and possible connection.  He asked if 
there is a precedent and if there are examples where an original resident becomes 
somewhat landlocked because of development around it in the growth areas.  He asked 
whether it is then the responsibility of that property owner to pay the connection fees if 
they need to do that for water in the future or whether sometimes the developer provides 
some ability for that connection other than at the original resident’s expense. 
 
Ms. Echols replied she was not aware of any and asked Mr. Benish. 
 
Mr. Benish replied that he believed it is the responsibility of the subsequent property 
owner to extend the water line and pay for the physical connection; but the right-of-way 
is required by the Service Authority to enable the adjacent property to achieve the access 
to move the water line down.  However, he said he believes that the cost for the water 
line is usually borne by that next property owner making the physical connection. 
 
Mr. Keller asked if staff knows the distance for extending the line because from his 
experience the distance can be costlier than the connection fee.  If it is a long distance, it 
could be quite expensive.  If it is a short distance, it is not as expensive. 
 
Mr. Benish replied that the distance is 30’ to 40’. 
 
Mr. Lafferty asked Ms. Myles if the drip line of her trees crosses the property line. 
 
Ms. Myles replied that it is not entirely clear because there was not a pink stake right 
behind her property.  However, she believed the drip line would span both properties.  
She asked Mr. Lafferty to rephrase his question. 
 
Mr. Lafferty said the drip line is generally the canopy; and, the Commission could require 
that no construction be done in the drip line. 
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

11 

 

Ms. Myles said she has not gotten permission from the other adjoining townhomes to walk 
through their backyard. But, from a bird’s eye view, if she is looking at it correctly from the 
pink stakes she can see without trespassing, it looks like the  dripline for the oak behind 
her house is probably on both sides of the property and there are maybe two or three 
other trees on the adjoining townhomes where that would be the situation as well.  She 
said there are trees below her property that would hit the water tower that was designed 
for Biscuit Run if they fell.  However, those trees could be affected as well. 
 
Mr. Lafferty thanked Ms. Myles. 
 
Mr. Keller pointed out to staff that he still was not clear whether the tree is on the 
developable piece of property or whether it is on adjacent properties; and, since the public 
hearing is closed, the Commission should be asking staff for the answer.   
 
Mr. Benish noted that staff is trying to figure that out, too. 
 
Mr. Keller said just so the public knows, staff is pinch-hitting for a staff member who is 
away for a family funeral.   
 
Ms. Riley said that the HOA has actively worked to try to remove impacts of the new 
development on the existing homes and she thinks they have done a very good job and 
she applauds them as well as the developer for trying to come up with some solutions in 
terms of the screening and the vegetation. She said she was still a little unclear about the 
water issue for the property to the south. She said that Mr. Brooks said he had an issue 
with the groundwater and his well but now she hears him talking about the connection to 
the water line.  
 
Mr. Firehock asked Mr. Brooks to come to the microphone to speak since the County is 
recording the proceedings. 
 
Mr. Brooks said that when you take all this vegetation down and you put in parking lots, 
the ground is no longer absorbing the amount of water that it used to.  So therefore, he 
says he has concerns that it would affect their wells.  He said that they do not have any 
research that would indicate that the development would or it would not affect the wells. 
However, he believes that there would be an effect because their well is so fragile and 
there is such a small yield of water --3 gallons per minute at the most.  He said that they 
get down sometimes to a gallon and a half in a drought.   He said that they have a reservoir 
so they drill their wells extra deep so that little bit of water coming in there overnight 
furnishes  the water the next day. He said this should explain why they believe any impact 
on groundwater may affect him.   If it does, then the only thing they are asking for is the 
ability to get water back to his property so they may continue to exist on that property. 
 
Mr. Keller asked if he was referring to a County water connection and Mr. Brooks replied 
yes.     
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

12 

 

Ms. Firehock pointed out the challenge for the County is that the County does not have 
good groundwater data.  Therefore, we do not know a great deal of information about the 
extent of our groundwater nor do we have the ability to get that anytime in the near future 
that she knows of.  So unfortunately, it is a bit of a guessing game and she did not know 
if there is any way to require that if a neighbor is well dries up, the County can provide 
that water.   
 
Ms. Echols noted that in the designated development areas the County has an 
expectation that people will be connecting to public water and sewer.  So the opportunity 
for the adjoining owner to actually extend that water line about 30’ from the adjoining 
property exists.  She said that we do not really have a precedent for providing water 
connection fees for someone else.  There is an expectation in the Rural Area that 
groundwater will be used by residents, but in the Development Area, the County provides 
for water service. 
 
Mr. Keller asked if staff has found answers to the other questions. 
 
Ms. Echols pointed out staff does not know exactly where the tree is located on the 
adjoining property. 
  
Mr. Benish pointed out the application plan does not pinpoint where Ms. Myles oak tree 
is located; however, he thinks the resident believes it is on her property.  However, the 
dripline does extend over so that would mean the root system also extends over that 
potentially could be compromised by trying to save that tree.  However, we could take an 
approach to have the applicant try to protect that tree to the greatest extent feasible. He 
pointed out the tightness of the development and the grading when you look at the site 
plan could probably compromise a long-term life of that tree. However, he said staff 
couldn’t quite pinpoint the tree to answer Mr. Keller’s question about exactly where it is 
located. 
 
Mr. Keller asked if the Commission is going to follow the counsel’s suggestion and say 
how they feel on this aspect of the application. 
 
Ms. Firehock noted the question was if we are going to say how we feel about all the other 
physical aspects when we discuss the proffer reduction. 
 
Mr. Keller replied yes, and asked Mr. Lafferty to respond.  
 
Mr. Lafferty said given the concerns about the adjoining property owners he is inclined to 
recommend approval of the development if the developer will take into account the 
concerns about the adjoining property owners.  If we need to, we can recommend 
restricting all construction to be outside the dripline of the tree. 
 
Ms. Spain said she would second that. 
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

13 

 

Mr. Kamptner said that would be captured in a proffer proposed by the applicant, and that 
can be included as part of the Commission’s recommendation.    
 
Ms. Firehock said she would just add that she is not sure that based on the comments 
about how tight the development is that they can avoid the dripline of the tree.  She said 
that from her knowledge of forestry the actual root structure could go out a third farther 
than what we are seeing as the dripline.  Therefore, she would offer a friendly suggestion 
that if it is indeed impossible to protect Ms. Myles tree, perhaps the developer could 
provide a replacement tree, which would take another 50 years to provide the same 
values; but at least it would be a gesture.  She was in support of the other requested 
changes to the plan. 
 
Ms. Riley said she was supportive of the other requested physical changes and would 
probably agree with Commissioner Firehock’s comments about a gesture of an alternative 
tree. 
 
Mr. Keller noted that he would as well.  He said the question of access to the county water 
if there is a well water problem in the future is just the access or the right-of-way. 
 
Mr. Lafferty said he would like to readdress the proffers.  The developer has given us no 
reason other than the cash proffer has gone down; however, if it was a viable project 
when Mr. Dickerson took it over it still should be a viable project since basically he sees 
it that the developer entered into a contract to do this development.  He thinks it would 
cause a new precedent in this case to reduce the proffer, and he can think of many other 
developers who will come back immediately and ask the difference between their 
development and this one.   
 
Ms. Firehock said she thought the developer said that before they were apartments and 
now they are actually for sale townhomes and two-family dwellings. 
 
Mr. Lafferty pointed out he was talking about the affordable housing. 
 
Ms. Firehock replied that was what she was talking about and where she was reading. 
 
Mr. Lafferty said the affordable housing remains the same as it always was. 
 
Ms. Firehock said she thought there was a proposed change in the form in which 
affordable housing is provided.  She pointed out the developer made the statement that 
the existing zoning only accounted for accessory apartments. She asked for clarification. 
 
Mr. Benish said the prior form of affordable housing offered was the accessory apartment, 
which he believed is the ground floor of a townhouse. 
 
Ms. Firehock said the ground floor apartment of a townhouse was affordable housing 
before and now he is recommending a much better alternative, which is also costlier, and, 
therefore he is asking to reduce the proffers now.  She noted the Commission does not 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

14 

 

have a spreadsheet showing what that cost is, which has been the problem with all of the 
requests for proffer reduction that have come without any financial explanation except 
that the market is not as good as it used to be recognizing the Commission has not yet 
been given adequate information.  She said the problem is we are not getting a strong 
financial picture on which to base the reduction or the change. 
 
Mr. Lafferty said he would like a strong financial detail; but did not want to delay the 
applicant. 
 
Mr. Keller asked counsel if  the Commission can move this forward if there is consensus 
on the issue of the physical plan but consensus on the proffer portion and pass that 
responsibility on to the Board of Supervisors.  He asked is there a mechanism so the 
Commission can do that. 
 
Mr. Kamptner replied that the entire application should go on to the Board of Supervisors 
with recommendations related to the physical development and the proffers.  Mr. 
Kamptner suggested with respect to the cash proffer, the Commission did not have 
sufficient information to justify whether or not the impacts are adequately addressed with 
the amounts proposed by the applicant.   
 
Mr. Keller said that sounds like a reasonable approach; and asked what the 
Commissioners thought. 
 
Ms. Firehock agreed. 
 
Ms. Riley thanked Mr. Kamptner for that. She pointed out that Mr. Kamptner had laid that 
out in his memo that the Commission was just lacking the evidence to support the 
economic feasibility argument and she thinks that is the basis. 
 
Mr. Keller noted that obviously the Commission wants to move this on because they do 
not want to be obstructive. and Mr. Lafferty agreed.  He asked if the Commission wanted 
to take a shot at modifying the suggested motion with this other information.  He asked 
Ms. Riley. 
 
Ms. Riley asked Mr. Kamptner for some recommended language. 
 
Ms. Firehock said just as a reminder there is also that correction or technical fix.   
 
Mr. Kamptner asked which technical fix. 
 
Ms. Firehock replied that note three on sheet 5 conflicts with the timing language of proffer 
3a.   
 
Mr. Keller pointed out another suggestion – that the trees and the well be dealt with as a 
proffer.    
 



ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION – July 12, 2016 

DRAFT PARTIAL MINUTES – ZMA-2014-000006 Avon Park II 

 

 

15 

 

Mr. Benish asked if the Commission’s desire is to recommend approval with conditions 
that these matters are addressed, and all Commissions agreed. 
 
Mr. Kamptner suggested the motion would be to recommend approval of the application 
plan with the technical corrections with the recommended amendments to the proffers 
with the exception of proffer 2, which is the one pertaining to the cash proffer amounts, 
for the reason that there is insufficient information regarding whether or not the reduced 
proffer amount addresses the impacts of this rezoning and also because there was 
insufficient information about the applicant’s claim of economic infeasibility; and with the 
recommendation that the applicant and staff work it out before it goes before the Board 
of Supervisors. 
 
Mr. Benish asked if it should include ensuring access to water. 
 
Mr. Kamptner replied yes, the motion should the recommendation that the applicant and 
staff before this goes to the Board of Supervisors ensure access to water and the tree 
issues that have been discussed.  He pointed out if we are talking about access to public 
water, this applicant would be required under the Subdivision Ordinance to extend the 
public water line to the property line so that part will already be addressed by the 
ordinance. 
 
Mr. Benish noted that staff thinks that is covered; however, if the Commission wants to 
make it a condition, then staff will ensure that it is covered.  
 
Mr. Lafferty said he would second that. 
 
Ms. Riley moved for approval of ZMA-2014-00006 Avon Park II with the language 
provided  by Mr. Kamptner. 
 
Mr. Lafferty seconded the motion. 
 
There being no further discussion, Mr. Keller asked for a roll call. 
 
By a vote of 5:0:2 (Dotson/More, absent) the motion carried. 
 
Mr. Keller noted that a recommendation for approval would be forwarded to the Board of 
Supervisors to a date to be determined.     
 
 
(Recorded and transcribed by Sharon C. Taylor, Clerk to Planning Commission & Planning Boards)  


